5

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
Kristi L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
APR 25 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

Eric D. McCall,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case 2017-000800

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TRISTAN M. SHAFFER

Tristan M. Shaffer
P.O. Box 1027
Chapin, SC 29036
(803) 941-7514
tristan@shafferlawsc.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

Kristi L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ERIC MCCALL,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case 2017-000800

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TRISTAN M. SHAFFER

Tristan M. Shaffer
P.O. Box 1027

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

When Appellant was 19 years old at the time of the offense, did the circuit court erred in summarily dismissing Appellant's motion for resentencing based solely on his chronological age?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Berkeley County Grand Jury for Murder and Carjacking. On November 16, 1998 Appellant was called to trial before the Honorable Markley Dennis and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Percy Beauford. R. 1. The State was represented by Brent Gray and Thad Doughty. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial, Appellant was found guilty of all charges. Appellant was sentenced life imprisonment for murder and twenty-five years for carjacking. R. 258-259.

Petitioner appealed his conviction. Petitioner's appeal was dismissed. Remittitur was received by the circuit court on June 14, 2000.

On May 31, 2016, Appellant filed a Motion for Resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*¹ and *Miller v. Alabama*.² R. 280. The State moved for summary dismissal. R 281-290.

On March 24, 2017 the Honorable Kristi Harrington heard the State's motion for summary dismissal. R. 264, ll. 3-4. After a brief argument, Judge Harrington granted the State's motion for summary dismissal. R. 277 ll. 23-24. This appeal follows.

¹ *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014).

² *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012).

ARGUMENT

- I. When Appellant was 19 years old at the time of the offense, the circuit court erred in summarily dismissing Appellant's motion for resentencing based solely on his chronological age.

Relevant Facts

At the time this brief is written, Appellant is thirty-nine years-old. Appellant has been locked-up for over half of his life for the killing of Kevin Keyes on February 23, 1998. R. 2; 258-259; 264, ll. 5-10.

On February 23, 1998, Appellant was a nineteen year-old kid. Earlier in his teens, Appellant had had gotten a girl pregnant, and then got married "too young." R. 165, ll. 17-25. He was having problems with his young wife and had moved to Charleston. Appellant would testify that he and his wife had "a lot of growing up to do." R. 165 , ll. 20-21. An acquaintance who testified a trial described the nineteen year-old as "playful." R. 161, 15-25.

Prior to the shooting, Appellant and Von Killingbeck were talking about stealing Keyes' car. R 78, l. 17—79, l. 5 . Keyes offered to give Appellant and Killingbeck a ride. R. 169, l. 24—170, l. 3. During that drive, Killingbeck pulled out a gun and shot Keyes. Appellant also pulled his gun which discharged. R. 171, ll. 8-22.

Appellant was convicted on November 18, 1998. The Court sentenced him to life imprisonment for the Murder. R. 289. On May 31, 2016, Appellant filed a motion for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars* and *Miller v. Alabama*. R. 280. The State moved for summary dismissal. R.281-290.

On March 24, 2017 the Honorable Kristi Harrington heard the State's motion for summary dismissal. R. 264, ll. 3-4. Appellant argued that *Miller* was not a bright line test.

R. 265 ll. 20-21. Additionally, Appellant stated, “there is no rational basis to not apply those hallmarks of youth to someone over the age of 18.” R. 270, ll. 1-3. Moreover Appellant argued that it would offend the Eighth Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment not to consider the hallmarks of you. R. 267, l. 22—270, l. 21.

The Court found the following:

I do not find -- and, again, I made, I believe, abundantly clear throughout the process of this hearing, that this is the appropriate vehicle for which you may do that.

Again, my very strict reading of *Aiken v. Byars* was expansive only to the age of 18 . The Court articulated all of the rationale that you want me to consider in *People v. House*[³]. It has been marked as Court's Exhibit Number 1. I'm granting the State's motion to dismiss. I do not believe that Mr. McCall is the defendant with which *Aiken v. Byars* was intended to provide relief. Note your exception to my ruling.

R. 277, l. 13—278, l. 1.

The Circuit Court erred because denying Appellant and individual analysis of youth describe in *Miller* violates the Eighth Amendment.

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution bars “cruel and unusual punishments.” U.S. Const. amend VIII. “The basic concept underlying the Eighth Amendment is nothing less than the dignity of man. ... The Amendment must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.” *Trop v. Dulles*, 356 U.S. 86, 100-101 (1958). “To determine whether a punishment is cruel and unusual, courts must look beyond historical conceptions to ‘the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.’” *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 58 (2010) (quoting *Estelle v. Gamble*, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976)).

In 2005, the Supreme Court established a categorical ban on the death penalty for

juveniles by relying on social science research suggesting that young people have a lessened culpability. *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 569-75 (2005). The Court found that young people are different from fully developed adults because of the following: (1) they are immature and have “an underdeveloped sense of responsibility;” (2) they “are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure;” and (3) their characters are “not as well formed” as adults. *Id.* at 569-70 (internal citations omitted). “It is difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” *Id.* at 573.

Five years later, the United States Supreme Court held life sentences for non-homicide crimes committed while the defendant was under the age of eighteen violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 74-76. The *Graham* Court found that juvenile non-homicide offenders must be given a meaningful opportunity to obtain release. *Id.* at 82.

In *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the United States Supreme Court continued the evolution of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. The Court extended the reasoning of *Roper* and *Graham* by holding that a mandatory sentence of life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders also violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. However, *Miller*, did not create a categorical prohibition, but instead, found that the hallmarks of youth should be considered as mitigating when sentencing. In fact, the *Miller* opinion recognized that the chronological age is not the sole mitigating factor to be considered. “[J]ust as the chronological age of

³ *People v. House*, 72 N.E.3d 357, 2015 IL App (1st) 110580.

a minor is itself a relevant mitigating factor of great weight, so must the background and mental and emotional development of a youthful Appellant be duly considered' in assessing his culpability." *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 476 (quoting *Eddings v. Oklahoma*, 455 U.S. 104, 116, 102 S. Ct. 869, 71 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1982)). While "A juvenile is not absolved of responsibility for his actions," his transgressions are "not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult." *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

"[Y]outh is more than a chronological fact." *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 476 (quoting *Eddings*). Young people lack maturity and responsibility; thus, they are more likely to act with "recklessness, impulsivity, and needless risk-taking." *See id.* at 471. Therefore, in considering the appropriate sentences for young people the courts should look at the following:

In addition to the chronological age of an individual, Court must examine their emotional development and the "hallmarks of youth." (1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence; (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, the offender's inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or the offender's incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation.

Aiken, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (internal quotations omitted). Young People have "diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform," and therefore, "they are less deserving of the most severe punishments." *See Graham*, 560 U.S. at 68.

Earlier this year, The United States District Court in Connecticut granted §2255 habeas to a 18 year-old's *Miller* claim. *Cruz v. United States*, No. 11-CV-787 (JCH), (D.

Conn. Mar. 29, 2018).⁴ Cruz was 18 years and 20 weeks old at the time of his crimes.

In *Cruz*, the Government argued that *Miller*, was a bright line test that prohibited a *Miller* type sentencing hearing to defendants under 18 years old at the time of the crime. This was the same position taken by Judge Harrington in Appellant's case. R. 266, ll. 13-18.

However, the *Cruz* court found the following:

The Government argues nonetheless that *Miller* drew a bright line at 18 years old, which prevents this court from applying the rule in *Miller* to an 18-year-old. See Post-Hr'g Mem. in Opp. at 8; see also *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 574, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005) (recognizing that the line may be over- and under-inclusive, but stating nonetheless that "a line must be drawn"). However, in so arguing, the Government fails to recognize that there are different kinds of lines. By way of illustration, in *Thompson v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 815, 108 S. Ct. 2687, 101 L. Ed. 2d 702 (1988), the Supreme Court held that the death penalty was unconstitutional for offenders under the age of 16. *Id.* at 838. It was not until *Stanford v. Kentucky*, 492 U.S. 361, 109 S. Ct. 2969, 106 L. Ed. 2d 306 (1989), rev'd by *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 574, however, that the Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment did not prohibit the execution of offenders ages 16 to 18. *Id.* at 380. In *Stanford*, the Court did not say that the ruling it set forth was found in the *Thompson* holding. Indeed, *Stanford* was not redundant of *Thompson* because the line drawn in *Thompson* looked only in the direction of offenders under the age of 16 and found them to be protected by the Eighth Amendment. *Thompson's* line did not simultaneously apply in the other (i.e. older) direction to prohibit the Eighth Amendment from protecting those over the age of 16. In contrast, *Stanford's* line did.

This distinction between the type of line drawn in *Thompson* and the type of line drawn in *Stanford* is reflected in the difference in the Supreme Court's treatment of these two cases in *Roper v. Simmons*. In deciding that the death penalty was unconstitutional as applied to offenders under the age of 18, the *Roper* Court considered itself to be overturning *Stanford*, but not *Thompson*.

⁴ Appellant is cognizant of Rule 268, SCACR. However, Appellant would submit that Rule 268, SCACR is not violated by citing unpublished federal opinions. Unpublished federal opinions are embraced by the Federal Courts. See Rule 32.1, FRAP.

Compare *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 574 ("*Stanford v. Kentucky* should be deemed no longer controlling on this issue."); with *id.* ("In the intervening years the *Thompson* plurality's conclusion that offenders under 16 may not be executed has not been challenged. The logic of *Thompson* extends to those who are under 18."). If the Government's argument that the line drawn in *Miller* prevents this court from applying its rule to an 18-year-old were correct, the same logic applied to the line drawn in *Thompson* would have required *Roper* to overturn *Thompson* rather than relying on and endorsing it. The language in *Roper*, however, makes clear that the court endorsed, rather than overturned, *Thompson*. See *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 574.

In drawing the line at 18, then, *Roper*, *Graham*, and *Miller* drew lines similar to that in *Thompson*, protecting offenders that fall under the line while remaining silent as to offenders that fall above the line. In the case of mandatory life imprisonment without parole, no Supreme Court precedent draws a line analogous to that in *Stanford*. **Therefore, while this court recognizes that it is undoubtedly bound by Supreme Court precedent, it identifies no Supreme Court precedent that would preclude it from applying the rule in *Miller* to an 18-year-old defendant.**

Cruz.

In finding that *Cruz* was entitled to resentencing, the Court examined legislative enactments, the use of life without parole sentences, and trends. The court noted, "that very few of the courts that declined to apply *Miller* to 18-year-olds had before them a record of scientific evidence comparable to the one that this court now has before it."

Cruz.

A State Court in Illinois has also considered whether a *Miller* hearing was necessary for a nineteen-year-old inmate. In ruling that the nineteen-year-old was entitled to a resentencing hearing, the court noted the following:

Rather, we find the designation that after age 18 an individual is a mature adult appears to be somewhat arbitrary, especially in the case at bar. Recent research and articles have discussed the differences between young adults, like Appellant, and a fully mature adult. "Research in neurobiology and developmental

psychology has shown that the brain doesn't finish developing until the mid-20s, far later than was previously thought. Young adults are more similar to adolescents than fully mature adults in important ways. They are more susceptible to peer pressure, less future-oriented and more volatile in emotionally charged settings."

House.

Much like in *House*, Appellant was nineteen at the time of his crime. Appellant should be provided the opportunity to be heard on how his young age may mitigate the crime. *See Roper* 543 U.S. at 574 ("The qualities that distinguish juveniles from adults do not disappear when an individual turns [eighteen]."). However, the circuit court summarily dismissed Appellant's Motion for Resentencing relying solely on his chronological age. The circuit court refused to consider any other hallmark of youth. The circuit court erred in granting the summary dismissal because Appellant was not given the chance to develop what role youth played in his crime. *Cf. Leamon v. State*, 363 S.C. 432, 434, 611 S.E.2d 494, 495 (2005) (In discussing the standard for summary dismissal in a PCR the court noted, "[s]ummary dismissal of a PCR application without a hearing is appropriate only when (1) it is apparent on the face of the application that there is no need for a hearing to develop any facts and (2) the applicant is not entitled to relief."). Therefore, Appellant's case should be remanded for a hearing on his Motion for Resentencing.

Refusal to provide Appellant a *Miller* Resentencing hearing would violate the Equal Protection Clause because there is no rational basis to treat a nineteen-year-old differently than a seventeen-year-old.

Equal protection under U.S. Const. Amend. XIV requires "all persons similarly situated to be treated alike." *City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr.*, 473 U.S. 432, 439 (1985) (*citing Plyler v. Doe*, 457 U.S. 202, 216 (1982)).