ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Berkeley County
The Honorable Kristi L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-000800

THE STATE,

vs.

Eric D. McCall,

RECEIVED
MAY 13 2019
Respondent
Court of Appeals

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Chief Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT ANNE WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting St., Ste. 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the trial judge commit an error of law by granting the State's motion to dismiss Appellant's motion for resentencing pursuant to *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), and *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), since he was nineteen years old when he committed the murder for which he was sentenced and neither *Miller* nor *Aiken* applied to his sentencing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent accepts Appellant's Statement of the Case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012); *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The issue of whether a criminal defendant is serving an illegal or unconstitutional sentence constitutes a question of law. *Bordeaux v. State*, 410 S.C. 495, 499, 765 S.E.2d 143, 145 (2014). Therefore, an appellate court considering the lawfulness of a sentence reviews the matter de novo for errors of law. *Id.* See also *Catawba Indian Tribe of South Carolina v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) (“[Appellate courts] are free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court”).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not commit an error of law by granting the State's motion to dismiss Appellant's motion for resentencing pursuant to *Miller v. Alabama*, and *Aiken v. Byars*, since Appellant was nineteen years old when he committed the murder for which he was sentenced and neither *Miller* nor *Aiken* applied to his sentencing.

Notwithstanding Appellant's argument to the contrary, Respondent submits that the trial judge did not commit an error of law by granting the State's motion to dismiss Appellant's motion for resentencing pursuant to *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), and *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), since he was nineteen years old when he committed the murder for which he was sentenced and neither *Miller* nor *Aiken* applied to his sentencing.

A. Proceedings in the trial court.

As noted in Appellant's Statement of the Case, Appellant received a jury trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis on charges of murder and carjacking on November 16, 1998. The jury convicted him as charged. Percy Beauford, Esquire, represented him on these charges. **R. 249-250; 261.** In mitigation of sentence, Mr. Beauford argued that Appellant was "twenty years of age, honorably discharged from the Army, father of a small child, [and] married." **R. 255.** Appellant asked for mercy. **R. 255.**

The trial judge made the following comments before he passed sentence:

THE COURT: All right, sir. My prayer this morning when I awakened, Mr. McCall, was the Lord give me the strength to do what I ask the jury to do, to not be motivated by any emotion in this case and to not let that fact be factored into my decision insofar as the sentence to be imposed.

I've tried numerous times to step away from it because I'll tell you, the jury has spoken, and in the five years almost that I've been on the bench, I don't believe I've ever seen a more cold-blooded act or actions on the part of a group of people than has been testified to in this case.

And it's further compounded by your testimony and now reliance on the fact that you served our country honorably. Quite honestly, sir, I was offended by your

inference that your response was because of some training that you received. That disgraces all those persons who have served this [C]ountry and -- and been taught and who have come back ... into this society and live lawfully.

But I said you're reacting from emotion. Step away. Look at it fairly and objectively. I have tried to do that, and I certainly believe that an offense of murder -- you know and I know what that carries. I have two options. One is a thirty-year sentence. The other is life.

Quite honestly, given the fact as you stated that you're intelligent, that you have had the benefit of a wonderful mother, who testified here, that you have served this [C]ountry, I cannot understand how I could ever impose a thirty-year sentence if ... if I gave you a thirty-year sentence. I mean I just -- it just simply -- that has to dictate and command and warrant life. I really believe that considering this offense and all aspects of it and the attitudes of all, it warrants it.

In fact, to be honest with you, the punishment aspect of the sentence really demands longer than that, but we know that that's not practical. Life means life.

R. 255-257.

The trial judge then imposed a life sentence for murder and twenty-five years for carjacking. **R. 257-258.**

B. The hearing on Appellant's motion for resentencing.

On March 24, 2017, the Honorable Kristi Harrington heard the State's motion to dismiss Appellant's motion for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars, supra*. **R. 261.** Appellant was present at the hearing and Tristan M. Shaffer, Esquire, represented him. **R. 262; 278.** The parties agreed that Appellant was nineteen at the time of the murder and carjacking and twenty when he was sentenced. **R. 264-265.**

Counsel argued that *Aiken* was based on the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Miller*, and that a bright-line test for such a motion had not been established. **R. 265.** However, Judge Harrington noted that *Aiken* had expanded South Carolina's definition of "juvenile" from seventeen years old to eighteen years old. She added, "... [T]here may be other forms of relief,

but for the purposes of this hearing, I don't believe that there's any -- and if you can point me to the case and where in the case that it says that it applies to somebody over the age of 18, I'm happy to look at that, but I have read extensively that case and I haven't seen it." **R. 265-266.**

In response to counsel's reliance on an Illinois case, Judge Harrington asked what gave her jurisdiction to resentence someone who was nineteen when the crimes were committed. He pointed to the majority Opinion in *Aiken*, which held that *Miller* was applicable to South Carolina cases, and argued that *Miller* says "the failure of the sentencing court to consider the hallmark features of youth offends the constitution." **R. 266-267.** However, Judge Harrington again asked where *Aiken* says that she could consider an age over eighteen for resentencing under *Aiken*. **R. 267.** Counsel argued that limiting resentencing pursuant to *Aiken* to those under eighteen would offend both the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution. **R. 267-268.**

Counsel further observed that *Aiken* was based on the Eighth Amendment because South Carolina did not mandate a sentence of life without parole. Rather, sentencing is discretionary in this jurisdiction. **R. 268.** He contended that it would be arbitrary not to apply the factors relating to juvenile sentencing to a nineteen year old. **R. 268-269.**

Yet, Judge Harrington stated, "I must work within the confines of what *Aiken v. Byars* is. And ... *Aiken v. Byars* was very specific and said, we extend from 17 to 18 inclusive. There is no other place in that case" **R. 269.** When asked whether Appellant was not a juvenile at the time the crime was committed, counsel conceded he was not a juvenile but stated, "[T]he heart of my argument is that there is no rational basis to not apply those hallmarks of youth to someone over the age of 18." **R. 269-270.** Judge Harrington found that this was not the purpose of the hearing, and that he was seeking an expansive application of *Aiken*, instead of "following the

law.” **R. 270.**

In response, the State noted that the Court in *Aiken* had considered the factors for juvenile sentencing when it expanded the definition of juvenile to an eighteen year old, and it argued that Appellant was nineteen when the crimes occurred. Also, the majority in *Aiken* did not establish a mandatory sentencing procedure for judges to follow. The State further argued that *Aiken* “only covers mandatory life sentences, and he was not sentenced to a mandatory life sentence.” Rather, the trial judge considered a thirty year sentence. The State further argued that Appellant “was not just an ordinary 19-year-old. He had been in the service for three years.” **R. 271-273.**

Judge Harrington found that:

... I'm only here because it is my clear reading and very strict reading of *Aiken v. Byars* that says it only expanded from 17 to 18 years old. So all I have to review, once it is filed under that, is any individual 18 and below.

Mr. McCall -- I have heard no contradictory information that he was anything other than over 18 at the time this sentence was imposed, as well as the time the crime was committed

R. 274.

Even though it was not controlling, counsel asked her to consider the reasoning of *People v. House*, 72 N.E.3d 357, 2015 IL App (1st) 110580, appeal denied, judgment vacated, 111 N.E.3d 940 (Ill. 2018). **R. 276-277.** However, Judge Harrington adhered to her interpretation of *Aiken* and granted the State’s motion to dismiss because she did not believe that Appellant “is the defendant with which *Aiken v. Byars* was intended to provide relief.” **R. 277-278.**

C. Discussion.

There was no legal error in dismissing Appellant’s motion. The issue of an incarcerated inmate’s eligibility for parole is generally an entirely separate and independent issue from the issue of an appropriate and proper sentence for a defendant convicted of a criminal offense. *State*

v. McKay, 300 S.C. 113, 115, 386 S.E.2d 623, 623 (1989). In South Carolina, the responsibility for determining whether an incarcerated inmate meets the requirements for parole is statutorily assigned to the state's parole board, which is required by law to "carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during, and after imprisonment" in determining whether parole should be granted. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640 (Supp. 2018); *State v. Dingle*, 376 S.C. 643, 649, 659 S.E.2d 101, 104 (2008) ("[T]he parole board has the sole authority to determine parole eligibility separate and apart from the court's authority to sentence a defendant"). Meanwhile, trial judges in our state are tasked with imposing a criminal defendant's sentence upon conviction and are vested with broad discretion to carry out that duty. *See State v. Hicks*, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008) ("A judge or other sentencing authority is to be accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence, and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed").

Despite the broad discretion afforded to South Carolina's trial judges in sentencing criminal defendants, the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution places limits on a trial judge's sentencing discretion by prohibiting the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment. *See* U.S. Const. amend. VIII ("Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted."). Pursuant to the ban on cruel and unusual punishment, a defendant's sentence must not be "barbaric" and must be graduated and proportioned to the offense in order to pass constitutional muster. *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277, 284 (1983); *see also Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304, 311 (2002) (instructing it is a precept of justice the punishment for a crime should be graduated and proportioned to the offense).

Importantly, in *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 81 (2010), a narrow majority of the

United States Supreme Court concluded the imposition of a life sentence *without the possibility of parole* upon a juvenile offender who committed a non-homicide offense violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. In reaching that conclusion, the Court applied its own "independent judgment" and determined life without parole sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders were unconstitutional due to the lessened culpability of juveniles, the severity and irrevocable nature of life without parole sentences, and the lack of sufficient penological justifications for the sentencing practice in regard to juveniles. *Id.* at 74.

As a result, the Court in *Graham* held a state must "give [juvenile non-homicide] defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity for release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation." *Id.* at 75. But, the Court neither placed careful limits on its holding by explaining a state is neither "required to guarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile offender" nor required "to release that offender during his natural life." *Id.*

To the contrary, the Court instructed:

Those who commit truly horrifying crimes as juveniles may turn out to be irredeemable, and thus deserving of incarceration for the duration of their lives. The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of nonhomicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life.

Id.

Subsequently, a narrow majority of the Supreme Court in *Miller* applied *Graham's* reasoning of the decision to mandatory life without parole sentences for juvenile homicide offenders and the majority held that "mandatory life without parole for those under the age of 18 at the time of their crimes violates the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on "cruel and unusual punishments." *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 465. *See also id.* at 489. In reaching this conclusion, the Court determined that a requirement for a mandatory sentence of life without parole sentence would

doom a juvenile homicide offender to an irrevocable lifetime in jail, without any consideration being given to important factors related to the offender: including the offender's specific chronological age, the hallmark features of youth, the offender's home environment, the particular circumstances of the offender's crime, the effects peer pressure may have had on the crime, the "incompetencies associated with youth," and the possibility for rehabilitation. *Id.* at 477-78.

Accordingly, in light of the irrevocable nature of a life without parole sentence, the Court held that a sentencer must consider an offender's youth and attendant characteristics before imposing the particular penalty of life without parole on a juvenile non-homicide offender. *Id.* at 483. Yet, the Court expressly declined to preclude a sentencer from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile homicide offender, so long as it first took "into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Id.* at 480 (footnote omitted).

In *Aiken*, the South Carolina Supreme Court considered whether *Miller* was applicable to juvenile homicide offenders who had been sentenced to life without parole under South Carolina's non-mandatory sentencing scheme. *See Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 536-37, 765 S.E.2d at 574. In a sharply-divided decision, a two-justice plurality of the Supreme Court concluded "any juvenile offender who receives a sentence of life without the possibility of parole [was] entitled to the same constitutional protections afforded by the Eighth Amendment's guarantee against cruel and unusual punishment." *Id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (plurality opinion). Agreeing in principle on different grounds, an additional justice joined with the plurality while concurring solely in the result. *Id.* at 545-46, 765 S.E.2d at 578 (Pleicones, J., concurring in result).

Accordingly, through its decision, the Supreme Court permitted "all juvenile offenders

who may be subject to a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole” to seek resentencing “to allow the inmates to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in the light of its constitutional weight.” *Id.* at 544-545, 765 S.E.2d at 577-78 (plurality opinion). Of important to the present issue, footnote 1 of the plurality opinion states, “In South Carolina, pursuant to Section 63–19–20 of the South Carolina Code (2010), a juvenile is a person less than seventeen years of age. However, *Miller* extends to defendants under eighteen years of age and therefore for the purposes of this opinion we consider juveniles to be individuals under eighteen. *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 537 n. 1, 765 S.E.2d at 573 n. 1.

Following those decisions, in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718, 736 (2016), the United States Supreme Court considered whether its decision in *Miller* was entitled to retroactive effect in the cases of juvenile offenders previously sentenced to life without parole and concluded that it was, in fact, retroactively applicable. In reaching that conclusion, the Court carefully explained its determination did *not* require the states “to relitigate sentences, let alone convictions,” despite the fact juvenile offenders sentenced before *Miller* likely would not have received the type of sentencing considerations mandated by that decision. *Id.*; *see also Miller*, 567 U.S. at 483 (“Our decision . . . mandates only that a sentencer follow a certain process—considering an offender’s youth and attendant characteristics—before imposing [life without parole]”).

Instead, the Court instructed that an unconstitutional sentence imposed upon a juvenile offender could be remedied by permitting the offender to be considered for parole. *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 736. The Court explained that:

Allowing those offenders to be considered for parole ensures that

juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity—and who have since matured—will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.

...

Those prisoners who have shown an inability to reform will continue to serve life sentences. The opportunity for release will be afforded those who demonstrate the truth of *Miller*'s central intuition—that children who commit even heinous crimes are capable of change.

Id. Thus, a grant of parole eligibility—as opposed to an individualized sentencing hearing—was expressly recognized as an appropriate means to remedy an Eighth Amendment violation involving a juvenile offender's sentence. *Id.*

Appellant relies on *House* and the unpublished decision in *Cruz v. United States*, No. 11-CV-787 (JCH), (D. Conn. Mar. 29, 2018), in support of his argument. Both cases are readily distinguishable. First, the decision in *House*, which was based on the Illinois constitution, has been vacated by the Illinois Supreme Court. In vacating the Appellate court's decision, the Illinois Supreme Court stated that:

In the exercise of this Court's supervisory authority, the Appellate Court, First District, is directed to vacate its judgment in *People v. House*, case No. 1-11-0580 (12/24/15). The appellate court is directed to consider the effect of this court's opinion in *People v. Harris*, 2018 IL 121932, on the issue of whether defendant's sentence violates the Proportionate Penalties Clause of the Illinois Constitution.

House, 111 N.E.3d 940 (table)

Cruz is likewise distinguishable. In a habeas corpus proceeding brought under 28 U.S.C. § 2255, the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut held that the protections of *Miller* apply to offenders who were eighteen at the time that they committed their offenses. *Cruz*, 2018 WL 1541898, at *25. In *Cruz*, the defendant was 18 years and 20 weeks old at the time of his crime. *Cruz*, 2018 WL 1541898, at *1.

Moreover, the holding in *Cruz* has been expressly rejected by the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, see *Commonwealth v. Mabine*, No. 1009 EDA 2018, 2018 WL 5262369, at *3 (Pa. Super. Ct. Oct. 23, 2018) (“We find appellant's reliance on this case, which was decided by a federal trial court, unavailing. Although this court recently certified for en banc review a case involving the application of *Miller* to a defendant who was 18 years and 9 months old at the time of his crime, there is presently no controlling authority in this Commonwealth that has extended the protections of *Miller* to defendants who are 18 years of age or older”), and the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan. See *Heard v. Snyder*, No. 16-14367, 2018 WL 2560414, at *2 (E.D. Mich. June 4, 2018) (“The Court correctly determined the Plaintiffs have not established a deprivation of constitutional rights and the new non-binding case out of the district court of Connecticut does not change this determination. The federal courts, now save one, have drawn a bright line and refused to extend to defendants over the age of eighteen, the Supreme Court's holding in *Miller*, which held that mandatory life without parole for defendants under eighteen at the time of their crimes violated the Eight Amendment”). As noted by the Court in *Heard*, “The Connecticut court's holding is a lone outlier.” *Heard*, 2018 WL 2560414, at *3.

In *United States v. Chavez*, 894 F.3d 593, 609 (4th Cir. 2018), *cert. denied*, 139 S.Ct. 278 (2018), and *cert. denied sub nom. Cerna v. United States*, 139 S.Ct. 466 (2018), and *cert. denied sub nom. Benitez v. United States*, 139 S.Ct. 469 (2018), the Fourth Circuit rejected the argument by two defendants that their mandatory life sentences were unconstitutional under *Miller* because they were eighteen and nineteen years old when they committed the murder and other crimes for which they were convicted. The Court reasoned as follows:

Both defendants were convicted of murder in aid of racketeering in violation

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